ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

MAR 26 1997

CLERK RUME OF COURT

By X X Y

ERIC A. KAPLAN,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 89,445

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Notice To Invoke Discretionary

Jurisdiction To Review A Decision Of The

Fifth District Court Of Appeal

MR. KAPLAN'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

TERRENCE E. KEHOE LAW OFFICES OF TERRENCE E. KEHOE Tinker Building 18 West Pine Street Orlando, Florida 32801 407/422-4147 407/849-6059 (FAX) CHANDLER R. MULLER LAW OFFICES OF CHANDLER R. MULLER, P.A. 1150 Louisiana Avenue Suite 2 Winter Park, Florida 32789 407/647-8200 407/645-3000 (FAX)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Petitioner, ERIC A. KAPLAN, will be referred to as "Mr. Kaplan." The Respondent, STATE OF FLORIDA, will be referred to as "the state." The eight volumes of the record on appeal containing pleadings, orders and other documents will be referred to by the letter "R", followed by the appropriate volume and page number. There are eight volumes of transcripts from the trial and sentencing hearing. The transcripts will be referred to by the letter "T", followed by the appropriate volume and page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. PROCEEDINGS BELOW

On October 19, 1992, Mr. Kaplan was charged in a three count criminal information (R1/138-39). Count I charged him with attempted first degree murder with a firearm, alternatively charging Mr. Raplan with attempted first degree premeditated murder and attempted first degree felony murder. Count II charged him with armed burglary to a dwelling. Count III charged him with shooting into a building.

On April **29**, 1993, Mr. Kaplan filed a motion seeking a court ordered mental competency examination (R3/407-62). On June 29, 1993, the defense filed a Notice of Intent to Rely Upon the Defense of Insanity (R4/705-07). A hearing was subsequently held on the competency motion, and on September 27, 1993, Mr. Kaplan was adjudicated incompetent to proceed and ordered committed to a state mental facility (R4/627-31). A

hearing was later held on February **28**, 1994, after which the trial court adjudicated Mr. Kaplan competent to proceed to trial (R4/741).

Starting on January 30, 1995, a trial was held in this matter. Over the course of the ten-day trial, 19 witnesses testified for the state and 13 testified for Mr. Kaplan. Nearly 40 exhibits were admitted on behalf of the state and 9 exhibits were admitted on behalf of Mr. Kaplan.

On February 10, 1995, Mr. Kaplan was convicted of attempted first degree felony murder with a firearm, armed burglary of a dwelling, and shooting into a building (R6/1120-24). Mr. Kaplan's motion for new trial (R6/1127-28) was denied by the trial court (R6/1131).

On April 13, 1995, Mr. Kaplan was sentenced to 40 years incarceration on the charge of attempted first degree felony murder with a firearm. The sentencing order further provided that subsequent to serving a period of 27 years, the defendant was to be placed on probation for the remainder of the term (R7/1220-29). Mr. Kaplan was sentenced to 27 years incarceration on Count Two, and 15 years incarceration on Count Three, to run concurrently with the sentence on Count One. A timely notice of appeal was filed (R7/1252).

B. FACTS

At trial, Mr. Kaplan did not contest that he committed the acts alleged. However, he contended that he committed them while insane (T1/57-72).

A number of psychological evaluations established Mr. Kaplan's background. Mr. Kaplan was adopted by Norma Kaplan and Buddy Kaplan at the approximate age of one (1) month (T3/425-26). As a child, Mr. Kaplan was a loner, who never had a lot of friends. Mr. Kaplan was described by one psychiatrist as having a "pre-morbid personality" during his teenage years (T3/496-97). During his early teenage years, Mr. Kaplan began drinking and often experienced personality changes (T3/430). During these years, Mr. Kaplan exhibited bizarre behavior on several occasions, including one instance wherein he physically attacked his mother (T3/430-31). At this time, Mr. Kaplan initially began receiving psychiatric treatment (T3/430). A similar incident also occurred while Mr. Kaplan was attending college. Specifically, Mr. Kaplan was involved in an incident with another student wherein he had a starter pistol in his possession. This resulted in Mr. Kaplan being suspended from college and being referred to a rehabilitation center (T3/431-36).

When Mr. Kaplan turned eighteen (18) years old, he decided to look into the background of his natural parents. At this time, Mr. Kaplan discovered that his natural mother was not Jewish. This was a shock to all parties involved, as even Norma and Buddy Kaplan had believed that Mr. Kaplan's natural parents were both Jewish (T3/436). Subsequent to this discovery, Mr. Kaplan eventually changed his religion to Buddhism (T3/436). After such conversion, Mr. Kaplan stopped drinking, smoking, and also developed rigid dietary habits (T3/438-40).

In approximately September, 1992, Mr, Kaplan decided to run for the State House of Representatives-District 34 (T1/114). He ran as a Democratic candidate in a heavily Republican area against incumbent Robert Starks, the husband of Judith Starks (T1/112-16). Subsequent to the shooting, Mr. Kaplan initially denied any involvement (T3/440) and became extremely agitated when a psychiatric evaluation was recommended (T3/447).

Notwithstanding such objection, Mr. Kaplan was initially evaluated by Cynthia White, M.D., a Board Certified Psychiatrist, employed at the North Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center (T3/557). Although Dr. White's evaluation was primarily conducted in the context of determining Mr. Kaplan's competency to proceed with trial (T3/568), she specifically noted that Mr. Kaplan's history was consistent with a diagnosis of bipolar disorder, and also confirmed that he was experiencing delusions (T3/569).

Thereafter, Mr. Kaplan was evaluated by Robert Graham Kirkland, M.D., a medical doctor specializing in psychiatry, who is currently the medical director at the Florida Medical Center (T3/464). Dr. Kirkland also diagnosed Mr. Kaplan as having bipolar disorder manic-type (T3/479). Dr. Kirkland explained this was a physical disorder demonstrated by chemical abnormalities and brain changes (T3/481). Further, such condition apparently has a strong genetic component as it appears to run in families (T3/482). In this regard, Mr. Kaplan's natural mother had also experienced many difficulties which suggested a problem with alcohol and depressive illness (T3/483). Dr. Kirkland further testified that at the time of the incident, Mr. Kaplan was experiencing insane delusions resulting from his mental disorder wherein a life force told him that if

he shot the gun at the house, Representative Starks would be scared out of the race and that good things would follow because he would win the race and save the world (T3/535). Mr. Kaplan believed that what he was doing was right and would benefit mankind (T3/536). On the basis of his diagnosis of bipolar disease, Dr. Kirkland testified that at the time of the subject incident, Mr. Kaplan was in a psychotic break wherein he could not perceive reality as it was, and did not respond to reality as it was (T3/498-99).

Mr. Kaplan was also examined by Robert Theodore Michael Phillips, M.D., Ph.D. Dr. Phillips is a forensic psychiatrist who is currently the Deputy Medical Director of the American Psychiatric Association, and is also a member of the faculty at Yale University School of Medicine (T4/640-42). Dr. Phillips also diagnosed Mr. Kaplan as suffering from bipolar disease (T4/719). He further elaborated that Mr. Kaplan suffered from an atypical psychosis, most closely defined as a manic depression, and that he also suffered from a personality disorder that was not otherwise specified, but having very strong schizoparanoid and schizotypal traits (T4/676). Likewise, Dr. Phillips also testified that at the time of the incident Mr. Kaplan was under a delusion that the "force" had told him that no one would be hurt by his actions (T4/679, 700-01). Accordingly, Mr. Kaplan believed, in his delusional state, that no would be harmed by his actions (T4/738). Dr. Phillips explicitly stated that such psychosis precluded Mr. Kaplan's ability to consciously form the requisite intent (T4/689).

The defense also presented testimony from Jeffrey Danziger, M.D., a Board Certified Psychiatrist who specializes in forensic psychiatry (T4/773-74). Dr. Danziger testified that at the time of the alleged offense, Mr. Kaplan was suffering from a psychotic illness and was not capable of consciously intending to hurt anyone (T5/805, 817). Likewise, Dr. Danziger also testified as to Mr. Kaplan's delusional belief that "no one would be hurt and nothing bad would happen, and therefore he did not have the intent to harm anyone" (T5/817).

Finally, the defense also presented testimony from Deborah 0. Day, Psy . D., a Central Florida psychologist, who has previously been recognized on numerous occasions as an expert by various courts (T5/870-76). She testified that Mr. Kaplan's whole behavior was delusional and that he believed what he was doing was right (T5/960).

Even the various court-appointed psychiatrists and psychologists acknowledged Mr. Kaplan's psychiatric problems. Specifically, Lawrence Benjamin Erlich, M.D., a local psychiatrist, initially diagnosed Mr. Kaplan as suffering from a bipolar disease, manictype, and expressly stated that Mr. Kaplan did not know the nature and quality of his acts, nor did he know it was wrong (T6/113 1). Although Dr. Erlich never conducted a second evaluation, he subsequently change his opinion with regard to the foregoing (T6/1115).

Mr. Kaplan was also evaluated by William Reibsame, Ph.D., a licensed psychologist appointed by the court (T5/992; 6/1004). While Dr. Reibsame testified that

Mr. Kaplan was sane at the time of the acts, he also acknowledged that Mr. Kaplan met the criteria for a diagnosis of a major depressive disorder, recurrent (T6/1033)

Finally, Mr. Kaplan was also evaluated by Ralph Edwin Ballentine, M.D., a medical doctor with degrees in both psychiatry and law. Dr. Ballentine was also a court-appointed expert (T6/1173-75). While Dr. Ballentine testified that Mr. Kaplan was sane at the time of these acts, he also acknowledged that Mr. Kaplan was suffering from a major depressive disorder, recurrent-type (T6/1187)

On the basis of the foregoing expert testimony, Mr. Kaplan requested the following special jury instruction relating to the legal effect of Mr. Kaplan's delusions:

A person may be legally sane in accordance with the instructions previously given and still yet, by reason of mental infirmity, have hallucinations or delusions which cause him to honestly believe to be facts, thing which are not true or real. The guilt of a person suffering from such hallucinations or delusions is determined just as though the hallucinations or delusions were actual facts. If the defendant would not have been guilty of the crime with which he is charged, had such hallucinations or delusions been the actual facts, then the defendant is not guilty.

The court denied this requested jury instruction (R6/1069).

With the agreement of the state, a special verdict form was used as to Count I. This verdict form advised the jury as to Count I that it could convict Mr. Kaplan of one of the following: 1) attempted first degree premeditated murder (with or without a firearm), 2) attempted first degree felony murder (with or without a firearm), or 3) one of several lesser included offenses, or 4) find him not guilty (T8/141 1-18,1432-33).

There was no objection to that instruction or the verdict form which was submitted to the jury (T7/1272-73, 133 1). In his closing argument, the prosecutor virtually abandoned the attempted first degree premeditated murder theory, arguing that the jury should return a verdict of attempted first degree felony murder (T7/1335-37). The jury gave the state what it asked for, returning a verdict of guilty as to attempted first degree felony murder with a firearm. The state did not raise any claimed error in the instruction or verdict form below, and did not file any cross-appeal to the Fifth District on this point.

After the ten day jury trial, the jury also convicted Mr. Kaplan of armed burglary of a dwelling (Count II), and shooting into a building (Count III). He was sentenced to forty years in the Florida Department of Corrections on Count I, to be placed on probation after serving twenty-seven years, twenty-seven years on Count II, and fifteen years on Count III, all to run concurrently.

C. FIFTH DISTRICT

Mr. Kaplan appealed his conviction, raising three issues on appea I. In an opinion dated September 20, 1996, the Fifth District affirmed the judgments and sentences on Counts II and III, but reversed the judgment and sentence on Count I. <u>Kaplan v. State</u>, 681 So.2d 1166 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). As to that count, the Fifth District panel majority reversed for a retrial on the charge of attempted first degree premeditated murder and any lesser included offense. Id. at 1168. The court stated:

We disagree with Kaplan's contention that he cannot now be retried for attempted premeditated murder. There was evidence adduced at trial which was sufficient to sustain a jury verdict of guilt of that offense. The jury, in effect, was precluded from making that finding by the court's instruction that he could not find guilt on <u>both</u> theories submitted to: premeditation and the attempted felony murder. The jury's selection of the latter theory, which was nullified by the decision in <u>Gray</u>, does not logically or legally constitute a rejection of the premeditation charge. We cannot agree with the appellant's argument that the jury indirectly exonerated Kaplan of attempted premeditated murder. We cannot know whether or not the trial jury would have convicted Kaplan of attempted premeditated murder had there been no impediment to their [sic] consideration thereof in the form of the nonexistent crime of attempted felony murder and the instructions pertaining thereto.

<u>Id</u>. (emphasis in original; footnote omitted).

Judge Sharp filed a dissent from the remand of Count I. She would have remanded for a trial only on the lesser included offenses previously instructed, and not for the offense of attempted first degree premeditated murder, <u>Id</u>. at 1168-70.

On October 7, 1996, Mr. Kaplan filed a motion for rehearing, rehearing en banc, or certification to this Court. That motion was denied by order dated November 1, 1996.

A notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was filed in the Fifth District on November 26, 1996.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

I.

BECAUSE JURY CONVICTED MR. KAPLAN OF ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER, RETRIAL IS PERMITTED ONLY AS TO LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § (3) (b) 3, Fla. Const., to review cases which directly and expressly conflict with opinions of this Court or other district courts of appeal on the same question of law. The Fifth District's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with a number of this Court's and other appellate courts' decisions concerning the proper remedy after the vacation of a conviction for attempted first degree felony murder.

Contrary to decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal, the Fifth District concluded that although Mr. Kaplan was convicted under a special verdict of attempted first degree felony murder, he could be retried on attempted first degree premeditated murder, as well as the applicable lesser included offenses. That decision violated not only recent decisions of this Court but fundamental principles of double jeopardy. Also, contrary to decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal, the Fifth District affirmed the sentences on Counts II and III, despite the fact that the single scoresheet used to score all three offenses included a large number of points attributable only to Count I. The vacation of Count I requires the vacation of the

sentences of Counts II and III, because those sentences were dependent upon the now-vacated conviction.

II.

DENIAL OF APPROPRIATE THEORY OF DEFENSE "DELUSIONS" INSTRUCTION REQUIRES REVERSAL AND REMAND FOR A NEW TRIAL ON ALL COUNTS

Mr. Kaplan presented ample evidence at trial that he was operating under severe delusions at the time of his actions. Based upon this evidence, he submitted a proposed jury instruction which tied these delusions into his insanity defense. The trial court's denial of that theory of defense instruction denied Mr. Kaplan a fair trial. He is entitled to reversal of his convictions and remand for a new trial on all counts.

<u>ARGUMENTS</u>

I.

BECAUSE JURY CONVICTED MR. KAPLAN OF ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER, RETRIAL IS PERMITTED ONLY AS TO LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES

The only appropriate remedy for the vacation of Mr. Kaplan's conviction on attempted first degree <u>felony</u> murder with a firearm is to remand for retrial on any lesser included offenses on which the jury was instructed at Mr. Kaplan's first trial.

A. Facts

At the jury charge conference, as to Count I the defense proposed a separate verdict for both attempted first degree felony murder and attempted first degree

premeditated murder (T7/1274-75). The assistant state attorney readily concurred in that proposal (T7/1272-73, 1277-78). Thereafter, with the state's agreement, the jury was told that as to Count I it could convict Mr. Kaplan of one of the following: attempted first degree premeditated murder (with or without a firearm), attempted first degree felony murder (with or without a firearm), a listed lesser included offense (T8/141 1- 18, 1432-33), or find Mr. Kaplan not guilty. There was no objection to that instruction, or to the verdict form which was submitted to the jury (T7/1331). In his closing argument, the prosecutor virtually abandoned the attempted first degree premeditated theory arguing that the jury should return a verdict of attempted first degree felony murder (T7/1335-37).

The state, which did not raise any claimed error in the instruction or the verdict form below, and did not file any cross-appeal on this point, cannot now complain that it received a verdict which it agreed to and specifically asked for, See McCarthren v. State, 635 So.2d 1005, 1006 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (appellate counsel is bound by the objections made or not made by trial counsel). As the state concurred in the use of the special verdict form and the instructions as to its use, it cannot now complain that the jury should have been permitted to convict Mr. Kaplan of one or both theories underlying attempted first degree murder.

B. Fifth's District's Reasoning

The Fifth District majority asserted that there was sufficient evidence to prove the offense of attempted first degree premeditated murder, and that this fact was not denied

by Mr. Kaplan. 681 So.2d at 1168 n. 4. That assertion is incorrect. At the trial level, Mr, Kaplan asserted that the evidence was not sufficient to convict him of that offense (T2/352-53; 7/1264). Because Mr. Kaplan was not convicted of attempted first degree premeditated murder, the sufficiency of the evidence to prove that charge has never been an issue on appeal.

The Fifth District went on to say that the jury was precluded from making a finding of guilt on attempted first degree premeditated murder by the trial court's instruction that the jury could not find guilt on both theories submitted to it. The Fifth District also stated that it did not know whether the jury would have convicted Mr. Kaplan of attempted first degree premeditated murder had there been no impediment to its consideration of that offense. <u>Id</u>.

There was no impediment. The jury was not precluded from making a finding of guilt on attempted first degree premeditated murder. It was precluded from making a finding of guilt on both theories. The jury was free to consider attempted first degree premeditated murder as it was to consider attempted first degree felony murder, as it was to consider the lesser included offenses, and as it was to consider "not guilty." Had the jury so chosen, it obviously could have rendered a verdict of guilty as to attempted first degree premeditated murder. The fact is that the state argued the attempted first degree felony murder theory, and virtually abandoned the premeditated theory. The jury simply gave the state what it asked for.

C. Gray and Wilson Require Retrial on Lesser Included Offenses

The Fifth District applied a remedy to Mr. Kaplan which has not been applied to any other defendant in his position.

The written judgment and sentence clearly show that Mr. Kaplan was convicted of attempted first degree <u>felony</u> murder. In a number of cases decided in the last two years, this Court has explicitly stated that upon vacation of a conviction for attempted first degree <u>felony</u> murder the proper remedy is that the defendant can be retried only on any lesser included offense on which the jury was instructed at the defendant's initial trial. Contrary to the unambiguous precedent of this Court, the Fifth District did not remand for a retrial solely on the lesser offenses, but has exposed Mr. Kaplan to a retrial on the theory of attempted first degree premeditated murder. Because of the direct conflict with this Court's and other Florida appellate precedents, this Court must reverse the Fifth District's decision.

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