017

FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 21 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Ohlef Deputy Clerk

ERIC A. KAPLAN,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 89,445

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE WORKSHIPS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KRISTEN L. DAVENPORT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #909130
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
Fifth Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

TABLE **OF** CONTENTS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: First of all, the State respectfully submits that jurisdiction was improvidently granted in this case, and the Court's exercise of jurisdiction should be reconsidered. As is even more apparent after reading Kaplan's Initial Brief, the circumstances in this case are unique, and no other Florida decision has dealt with this specific situation. Accordingly, there is no basis for conflict jurisdiction.

As to the merits of Kaplan's claim, the State submits that the district court's decision was proper. In cases involving attempted felony murder, the appropriate remedy is retrial on all equal or lesser charges -- including, in this case, the charge of attempted premeditated murder. Given the instructions below, it cannot be said that the jury's verdict was the equivalent of an acquittal of this crime.

ISSUE II: Kaplan's jury instruction claim need not be considered by this Court, as it does not form a basis for conflict jurisdiction. Should this Court exercise its discretion and consider the issue, the State submits that Kaplan's claim should be rejected because the issue was not properly preserved for appeal, as defense counsel never objected to the jury instructions.

Even if this claim had been preserved, it is without merit. The trial court properly denied Kaplan's requested instruction on delusions, as this instruction is not an accurate statement of the M'Naghten test for insanity and was not supported by the facts of the case. Even if Kaplan's delusions were actual facts, his conduct was still not legally justified.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY REMANDED FOR RETRIAL ON EQUAL OR LESSER OFFENSES OF ATTEMPTED FELONY MURDER -- INCLUDING ATTEMPTED PREMEDITATED MURDER.

Kaplan first argues that the district court erred in remanding this case for retrial on the charge of attempted premeditated murder. The State submits that it is readily apparent, from Kaplan's Initial Brief, that the situation in this case is unique in Florida law.

While numerous cases have addressed the proper remedy for a conviction of attempted felony murder, and numerous cases have addressed the proper remedy for a general guilty verdict of attempted murder, none have addressed the situation in the present case -- a conviction of attempted felony murder which, because of the other instructions given, is found to be the legal equivalent of a general verdict. Whether this Court agrees with the district court's resolution of this issue or not, it is clear that such resolution was the first, and only, in a case of this kind. Accordingly, this Court has no basis for jurisdiction,

Should this Court reject the above argument, the State submits that the district court's decision should be approved. Under the

circumstances, the district court properly remanded for retrial on equal or lesser offenses of attempted felony murder -- including attempted premeditated murder.

Kaplan was charged with attempted first degree murder with a firearm. (R. 138). The State based this charge on two alternative theories -- that Kaplan premeditated his crime, or that Kaplan committed his crime during the course of a burglary. Subsequent to Kaplan's trial, this Court decided that the latter crime, attempted felony murder, no longer exists in Florida. State v. Gray, 654 So. 2d 552, 554 (Fla. 1995). This decision is applicable to all cases "pending on direct review or not yet final" when Gray was decided, which includes the case at bar. Id.

This Court has held that the proper remedy in cases of <u>Gray</u> error is retrial on any offenses of a degree 'equal to or lesser than" the crime for which the defendant was convicted. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Ellis</u>, 685 So. 2d 1289 (Fla. 1996); <u>State v. Jones</u>, 685

¹Contrary to Kaplan's argument, the State did not abandon the premeditation theory at trial. As discussed below, there was extensive evidence of premeditation presented by the State, although of course the more obvious and indisputable felony murder theory was emphasized in closing argument.

So. 2d 1280, 1281 (Fla. 1996); <u>State v. Riggins</u>, 684 So. 2d 818 (Fla. 1996); <u>State v. Wilson</u>, 680 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 1996).²

In accord with the above cases, the district courts have uniformly held that in cases such as this, where the State proceeds under two theories of attempted murder, premeditation and felony, the proper remedy is a retrial on the charge of attempted premeditated murder. As long as there is sufficient evidence to support a guilty verdict on premeditation, the courts have reasoned, there is no impediment to remanding for a new trial on this charge. Thompson v. State, 667 So. 2d 470, 471 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. granted, 675 So. 2d 931 (Fla. 1996). See also Bell v. State, 685 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Allen v. State, 676 So. 2d 491,

²Of course, in <u>Wilson</u>, and numerous other cases cited by Kaplan, there were no "equal" offenses to the crime of attempted felony murder, but only lesser offenses. In those cases the charge of attempted premeditated murder was not even pursued. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Chastine v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Wkly. D395 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 12, 1997) (remanding for retrial on attempted manslaughter where State never argued or presented evidence of premeditated murder).

492 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996); <u>Williamson v. State</u>, 671 So. 2d 281, 282 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).³

Here, there was plainly sufficient evidence of premeditation.

Kaplan's actions before, during, and after the crime clearly establish a "fully formed conscious purpose to kill." Asav v.

State, 580 So. 2d 610, 612 (Fla.), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 265 (1991),

Notwithstanding the offer of help from the local Democratic party, Kaplan did little to further his goal of election to the Florida House of Representatives. If he wanted to achieve that goal, drastic action was required -- murdering his opponent, Representative Bob Starks.

One week before the crimes took place, Kaplan acquired ammunition for his handgun and practiced shooting. He found out the home address of Starks, and he wrote this address on ${\bf a}$ sheet of

³In fact, it could be argued that in cases such as this the defendant's conviction should simply be affirmed, rather than reversed for a retrial, as long as the valid theory (premeditation) is supported by substantial competent evidence. <u>See Murrav v. State</u>, 491 so. 2d 1120, 1122-23 (Fla. 1986) (upholding guilty verdict for attempted manslaughter where one of the State's theories of guilt was supported by the evidence -- even though under the alternative theory (culpable negligence) the crime did not exist). <u>But see Valentine v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Wkly. S10, S11 (Fla. Dec. 19, 1996) (reversing attempted murder conviction because it may have been based on legally unsupportable attempted felony murder theory).

paper. Then, the day before the crime, Kaplan prepared to firebomb the home of his opponent by making six Molotov cocktails.

(Fortunately for the Starks, this part of Kaplan's plan was foiled by his employer).

Kaplan then took his revolver and went to the Starks' home at 4 a.m. on a Sunday morning. From the cars parked in the driveway, it appeared that Bob Starks was at home that night. Kaplan made a U-turn and parked his car so he could make a quick get-away, then entered the Starks' yard. He brought along some type of material to use as a crude silencer, and he fired 5 shots into the Starks' home -- one of which hit Mrs. Starks as she was in her bed, sleeping.

Kaplan emptied his revolver into the house and then sped away, driving with his lights off so his car would not be easily seen. When it appeared that he was being pursued, Kaplan took evasive action in a successful attempt to escape from his pursuer. Finally, when confronted with the fact that his car was spotted at the scene of the crime, Kaplan constructed a story of a potential theft of his car, and he purchased a magnetic key box to corroborate this story.

Given the substantial evidence of premeditation in this case, a retrial on the charge of attempted murder was clearly proper.

The result should be no different simply because in this case there was a specific jury finding as to its theory. As the district court explained, under the unique facts of this case this jury finding was not dispositive.⁴

It is well established that **a** special jury verdict explaining its theory of guilt is not required under Florida law. See. e.g., Young v. State. 579 so. 2d 721, 724 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 1198 (1992); Haliburton v. State, 561 So. 2d 248, 250 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 501 U.S. 1259 (1991). Moreover, as the following cases illustrate, special jury findings do not always resolve the issues they purport to resolve. See Brown v. State. 473 so. 2d 1260, 1265 (Fla. 1985) (jury verdict specifying theory of guilt would not resolve question of whether defendant intended that killing take place), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 1038 (1983); Hill

^{&#}x27;Kaplan argues that the State cannot complain about the special verdict because the form was agreed to below and no cross-appeal was taken. Contrary to this argument, the State is not complaining that a special verdict form was used, nor is the State in any way alleging that the trial court erred in instructing the jury as it did.

Rather, the State is addressing the appropriate remedy to be applied in light of what the trial court did. Certainly no one could have anticipated that the special verdict would one day have any effect whatsoever on the validity of Kaplan's conviction. \underline{Cf} . Wilson, 680 So. 2d at 412 (noting that attempted felony murder was a valid offense for approximately eleven years, until \underline{Grav} was decided).

v. State, 616 so. 2d 1160, 1162 (Fla. 5th DCA) (special finding by jury that evidentiary error was harmless did not resolve this issue), rev. denied, 624 So. 2d 266 (Fla. 1993); North v. State, 538 So. 2d 897, 898 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) (guilty verdict would not be overturned on basis of special jury findings which allegedly contradicted the verdict itself).

In the present **case**, the trial court took an extra, completely unnecessary step in creating the verdict form -- it put separate lines on the form for premeditated and felony murder. (R. 1120). However, the court did not take the additional step needed to make this choice dispositive -- it did not tell the jury that it had the option of choosing *both* theories if it found both theories had been proven.

Rather, the court instructed the jury that it had to pick one of the theories, as only one verdict could be returned for each count. (T. 1431-33). Accordingly, once the jury found that Kaplan was guilty of attempted felony murder, an easy conclusion under the clear facts of this case, it was precluded from finding him guilty of attempted premeditated murder as well. The jury was forced to make a choice in filling out the verdict form no matter what it found -- even if it found both theories had been established, it

did not have the option of indicating this finding on the verdict form.

Accordingly, while the jury definitely found that the State had proven attempted felony murder, this finding did not "logically or legally" constitute a rejection of the premeditation charge.

Kaplan, 681 So. 2d at 1168. Cf. State v. Sykes, 434 So. 2d 325, 328 (Fla. 1983) (conviction of non-existent lesser included offense was not an acquittal of main offense where the two offenses were in fact equal; retrial on main offense ordered); Achin v. State, 436 So. 2d 30, 31-32 (Fla. 1982) (same).

Under the facts of this case, then, the "special finding" cannot be deemed a definitive choice of one, and only one, theory of guilt. Given the instructions, the 'special finding" was mere surplusage, with no binding legal effect. Of course, had the jury been given the option to convict of both offenses in this case, and chosen only to convict of attempted felony murder, then Kaplan's implicit acquittal argument may have merit. Under the instructions as given, however, this argument must be rejected.

This may well have been the case in <u>Bateman v. State</u>, 681 so. 2d 820 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), where both theories went to the jury and a verdict of attempted felony murder was returned. It is impossible to tell, however, given the paucity of facts in the written opinion.

The verdict in this case is the legal equivalent of a general verdict, and the analysis of the general verdict cases, discussed above, should be applied by this Court. Under this case law, the district court properly remanded for a retrial on the charge of attempted premeditated murder. Cf. Bowers v. State, 676 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (where it was obvious that the jury found the felony murder theory had been proven, but it was impossible to tell if the premeditation theory had been proven as well, retrial on this theory was required).

Contrary to Kaplan's argument, the remedy applied by the district court in this case does not present a double jeopardy problem. Unlike cases wherein the jury convicts of a lesser offense, implicitly acquitting of the greater offenses, or recommends a life sentence, implicitly acquitting of a death sentence, in this case there was no implicit acquittal of anything.

Neither attempted felony murder nor attempted premeditated murder was presented as a higher degree of crime which was to be

^{&#}x27;See, e.g., reen v. United States, 355 U.S. 184 (1957); Jones, 685 So. 2d at 1281; Riggins, 684 So. 2d at 818.

^{&#}x27;See, e.g., Arizona v. Rumsey, 467 U.S. 203 (1984); Bullington v. Missouri, 451 U.S. 430 (1981).

considered before moving on to the "lesser" alternative. Rather, they were presented as equal but alternative means of proving the exact same crime -- attempted first degree murder. (T. 1410, 1412).

Attempted felony murder is not a lesser offense of attempted premeditated murder, and the jury was told it could not convict of both; accordingly, there was no implicit acquittal of the latter crime. Cf. Wilson, 680 So. 2d at 413 (no double jeopardy violation on retrial where jury convicted defendant of highest offense on which it had been instructed; such verdict did not constitute an acquittal, explicit or implicit, of other offenses).

Allowing Kaplan to escape full responsibility for the attempted murder of Mrs. Starks would bestow on him a windfall which has absolutely no basis in the law and is contrary to public policy. The district court applied the proper remedy in this case by remanding for a retrial on all offenses equal to or lesser than the offense convicted of, and its decision should be approved by this Court.

Finally, Kaplan argues that the district court erred in failing to vacate the sentences on counts II and III and remand for resentencing on this counts. This argument was properly rejected by the district court.

In every case⁸ cited by Kaplan in support of his argument, the attempted murder conviction was simply reversed, with no mention of any retrial possibility. In such circumstances resentencing is obviously necessary for the other offenses.

In this case, however, a retrial has been ordered as to count

I. While resentencing may be necessary at some point in the
future, it would be inappropriate to order such resentencing until
final resolution of the charges in count I of this criminal
transaction. Should Kaplan be convicted once again after retrial
on this charge, his current scoresheet will be correct -- with
counts II and III scored as "additional offenses at conviction."

If Kaplan is ultimately acquitted of count I, or convicted of a
lesser offense, then, and only then, a new scoresheet would be
appropriate.

^{*}See Initial Brief at p. 20-21.

[&]quot;Under the guidelines, these offenses accrue more points if scored as 'additional offenses at conviction," rather than as "prior record." <u>See</u> Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.988(a).

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING KAPLAN'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION ON DELUSIONS.

Kaplan next argues that the trial court erred in denying his proposed jury instruction on delusions and hallucinations. First of all, this Court need not consider this claim, as there is no asserted conflict between the district court's resolution of this issue and any other case. 10

Should this Court exercise its discretion and consider this claim, the State submits that it should be rejected, as Kaplan's argument was not properly preserved for appeal.

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